
United Nations

GENERAL
AS S E MBLY
TWENTY-FIFTH SESSION

Official Records

Chairman: Miss Maria GROZA (Romania).

AGENDA ITEMS 53 AND 60

Elimination of all forms of racial discrimination (con
tinued) (A/8003, chap. IX, sect. A; A/8027, A/8057,
Al8061 and Add.1, A/R062 and Add.1 and 2, A/8117,
A/C.3/l.1765):

(a) International Year for Action to Combat Racism and
Racial Discrimination: report of the Secretary-General;

(b) Measures for effectively combating racial discrimina
tion and the policies of apartheid and segregation in
sOllthern Africa: report of the Secretary-General;

(c) Report of the Committee on the Elimination of Racial
Discrimination, submitted under article 9 of the Inter
national Convention on the Elimination of All Forms
of Racial Discrimination;

(d) Status of the International Convention on the Elimina
tion of All Forms of Racial Discrimination: report of
the Secretary· General

The importance of the universal realization of the right of
peoples to self-determination and of the speedy granting
of independence to colonial countries and peoples for the
effective guarantee and observance of human rights
(continued) (A/7998)

GENERAL DEBATE (continued)

1. Mr. EL-FATTAL (Syria) said that, in the entire history
of the United Nations, no item had been the subject of so
many statements, reports, studies, seminars and conferences
as had the question of racial discrimination. Hundreds of
resolutions condemning racial discrimination had been
adopted since the founding of the Organization. Moreover,
the question had been repeatedly discussed in several
committees of the General Assembly as well as in the
functional commissions of the United Nations. However,
despite the international community's continuing concern
about the problem of racial discrimination, the United
Nations had not been able to make some regimes renounce
the practice of racial discrimination which they had
elevated to the status of an official policy.

2. The continued existence of racial discrimination re
flected a crisis not within the regimes which, by their acts,
had wilfully stigmatized themselves as anti·social and
anti-human, but within the United Nations. Proof of that
crisis was the lack of the "political will" to take action in
situations which endangered the very foundations of peace
and security. Furthelmore, casuistry and obscurantism had

189

THIRD COMMITTEE, 1770th
MEETING

Monday, 26 October 1970,
at 3.35 p.m.

NEW YORK

prevented any effective effort to eliminate racial discrimi
nation and had hindered decolonization. His delegation
therefore believed that it was its duty to point to the causes
which were frustrating the realization of the objectives of
the United Nations.

3. First, it was a well-known fact that there was an organic
and complex relationship between world capitalism on the
one hand and the white minority regimes in southern Africa
on the other. But that statement would be incomplete if no
account was taken of the role assigned to South Africa in
the global strategy of world capitalism and imperialism. Its
role was nothing less than to deter the emergence of Africa
as an enormous progressive force mustering enough
economic, financial, political and military power to eradi·
cate the vestiges of colonialism and imperialism. Conse·
quently, viewed within the broader context of that strat·
egy, the role of South Africa, Southern Rhodesia and
Portugal as permanent bastions of aggression against the
Africans was no different from that of South Viet-Nam in
South·East Asia or that of Israel in North Africa and Asia.
It was no mere coincidence that, in the centres of
aggression in those three regions, Africans and Asians were
being slaughtered with arms manufactured in the United
States. So long as action within and outside the United
Nations was divorced from the active struggle against the
very sources of the ill, Le. United States imperialism and
world capitalism, the situation in southern Africa would
remain unchanged.

4. The second cause of the paralysis of the United Nations
was the ingenuous belief of some delegations that, through
persuasion or the sheer weight of world public opinion, the
racists and colonialists would be made to realize the danger
inherent in their policies. However, history had proved that
no colonial or racist regime gave up its policies voluntarily.
Accordingly, the efforts of the United Nations should be
aimed at opening avenues of direct co-operation with the
national liberation movements in southern Africa and
recognizing the legitimacy of the armed struggle of all
oppressed peoples. The duty of the Organization could no
longer be to persuade South Africa, Portugal and Southern
Rhodesia to abandon their practices; it must now coerce
them to do so.

5. Thirdly, it was incumbent upon the members of the
international community not so much to single out the
foreign Powers responsible for the continuation of colo
nialism and apartheid as; to detennine their own policies
and their relations with those Powers in accordance with
the best interests of the peoples of sou them Africa. In that
connexion, his delegation could not but remind the
members of the Committee that, at the 1534th meeting of
the Security Council on 17 March 1970, the United States
and the United Kingdom had vetoed the draft resolution

A/C.3/SR.l770



General Assembly - Twenty-fifth Session - Third Committee
190

and territorial(Bissau), and threatening the independence
integrity of the African countries.

13. Cu ba felt that the only effective guarantee of the full
exercise of human rights lay in the actual realization of the
right of peoples to self·determination, and it was convinced
that armed revolutionary struggle was the only choice left
to oppressed and exploited peoples who were seeking that
freedom.

10. In resolution 2544 (XXIV) of 11 December 1969 the
General Assembly had proclaimed 1971 as the International
Year for Action to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimina
tion. That proclamation should not be the occasion for
mere formal ceremonies devoid of any practical significance
but should mark a new stage of action and struggle against
racism, neo-nazism, colonialism and neo-colonialism.

11. Although the colonial system of imperialism showed
obVious symptoms of decay, the resounding triumphs of
national liberation movements had made imperialism much
more aggressive, In southern Africa, Korea and the Middle
East, the old and new colonialists were trying to retain their
conquests and were provoking situations which threatened
world peace. Imperialism had not given up its fatuous hope
of crushing the rebellion of the peoples and eliminating the
revolutionary liberation movements, nor did it hesitate to
use the most reprehensible methods to attain those objec
tives. Consequently, it was necessary to reaffirm the
legitimacy of the struggle being waged by the peoples of
South Africa, Southern Rhodesia and the Territories under
Portuguese colonial domination to assert their right to
self-determination and to eliminate all forms of racial
discrimination. It was also necessary to continue and to
increase material and moral assistance to all peoples who
were taking up arms in their struggle in defence of their
fundamental national rights.

12, Tn resolution 2105 (XX) of 20 December 1965,
concerning the implementation of the Declaration on the
Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and
Peoples, the General Assembly had recognized the legiti·
macy of the struggle being waged by the peoples under
colonial rule, and had invited all States to prOVide material
and moral assistance to the national liberation movements
in colonial Territories. There was accordingly no justifica
tion for any State, especially a State Member of the United
Nations, to lend assistance, particularly military assistance,
to Governments which persisted in keeping peoples under
colonial and racist regimes. It should also be stressed that
any attempt to place the reins of government in the hands
of persons who did not represent the majority of the
population was contrary to that Declaration, as was the
maintenance of military bases with the object of perpe
tuating nco-colonialism and undermining self-determination
and sovereignty.

9. Actually, racial discrimination was a typical manifesta
tion of any regime based on exploitation. Racism and
colonialism were in essence the same, and racism and
apartheid survived as one of the many abhorrent manifesta
tions of imperialism. The racial superiority of the white
man had been the ideological weapon of the old brand of
European colonialism and it served the same function for
imperialism and neo-colonialism today.

7. His country had nothing to hide with regard to its
obligations under the International Convention on the
Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination and it
would play its full part in the activities of the International
Year for Action to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimi
nation.

6. The fourth reason for the inability of the United
Nations to resolve the problem was its reluctance to
acknowledge the universality of human rights, and the
consequent fragmentation of the solidarity and the strug~e
of the third world against the common enemy. HIS

delegation could not understand, for example, why the
question of Palestine should be discussed solely as a refugee
problem or why the Palestinian people were not permitted
to explain their case as one of a denial of the right of
self-determination. Nor could it understand why racial
discrimination in Israel could not be discussed on the same
basis as racial discrimination in southern Africa. For his
country, the human rights of black Americans in their
sordid ghettos, the human rights of the peoples of South
Africa, Zimbabwe, Namibia, Angola and Mozambique and
the human rights of the Viet-Namese and the Palestinians
were one and the same. Any defeat inflicted on Pretoria
would be a defeat inflicted on Israel and vice versa, because
the Pretoria and Tel Aviv regimes had been established at
the cost of destroying the indigenous populations and both
were receiving support from the same imperialist Powers. In
addition, the close co-operation between Israel and South
Africa made Israel a major source of danger to the African
cause. The Israeli expansion southwards and the South
African advance to the north, through Southern Rhodesia
and the so-called Portuguese Territories, must be inter
preted in the light of the theory of global imperialism.

R. Mr. GONZALEZ (Cuba) said that the General As
sembly, since its adoption of resolution 1510 (XV) in 1960,
had periodically adopted similar resolutions on racial
discrimination, but that the elimination of all forms of
racial discrimination had not been accomplished_ On the
contrary, recent history confirmed three indisputable facts:
first, the South African and Southern Rhodesian regimes
were yem by year intensifying their aggressive and criminal
policy towards the black majority in those countries;
second, the imperialism of the United States and its allies,
by assisting those racist regimes, was enabling apartheid to
exist and was making a dead letter of all the resolutions
adopted by the United Nations and the specialized agencies;
third, the collective imperialism prevailing in southern
Africa depended 011 the racist Pretoria regime in maintain
ing the illegal Government of Southern Rhodesia, perpe.
tuating colonialism in Angola, Mozambique and Guinea

I Offidul I~el'()/'ds 0/ rhe ,)cClJrilV COl/llcil. Twellty-jf/rh Year,
SUflplemelll for JllnualY. February mId March 1970, document
5/%96

submitted by the Afro·Asian coun tries.! The real purpose
of their veto had been not so much to oppose the principles
and objectives of the United Nations as to consolidate the
unholy alliance between colonialism and racis~. I~ W?s
precisely such collusion which na~ions m~st bear. In mmd ~n
determining the nature of their relatIOns With certam
Western Powers. Otherwise, the United Nations would
spend the next twenty-five years adopting majority resolu-
tions to no avail.



1770th meeting - 26 October 1970

14. Mr. HASSANE (Chad), after citing some of the
comments on the situation in southern Africa made before
the General Assembly by the President of the Republic of
Chad on the occasion of the twenty·fifth anniversary of the
United Nations Cl 882nd plenary meeting, held on 23
October 1970), said that the authors of the United Nations
Charter had considered the principles of self·determination
of peoples and respect for dignity and basic human rights to
be of paramount importance. However, when one con
sidered the results of twenty·five years of effort by the
United Nations in support of decolonization and the
struggle' to ensure respect for human rights and funda
mental freedoms, one had to recognize that, although some
progress had been made, racism and discrimination was still
being practised openly and countries such as South Africa
and Portugal remained Members of the United Nations
despite their defiance of its decisions, while every effort
was made to prevent the People's Republic of China from
joining the Organization.

15. The situations in the Middle East and in Cambodia,
and the absence of the People's Republic' of China and
other countries from the United Nations, clearly demon
strated that the right of peoples to self-determination was
not always respected. As the President of Chad had said
before the General Assembly, there were in the People's
Republic of China 700 million human beings who formed
an important community, whose civilization was daily
growing in strength, and who were making progress in
technology. Therefore, it was not possible to exclude that
country from the world system of co-operation and
peaceful coexistence if a true world equilibrium was to be
attained. Twenty·two years after the proclamation of the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights, racial discrimina
tion still existed. Ten years after the adoption of the
Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial
Countries and Peoples, tens of millions of Africans were
liVing under the yoke of colonialism and racism. Four years
after the adoption of General Assembly resolution
2145 (XXI), the people of Namibia continued to live in
humiliation under the rule of apartheid.

16. Men whose fundamental human rights were trampled
upon, men who were condemned to poverty, servitude,
humiliation and suffering, could find no peace until their
rights were restored and their dignity respected. Nor could
there be any peace for Africa or, in particular, for the white
minority in the southern part of the continent, no matter
how strong the repressive measures which they used.

17. The goal of the United Nations was to maintain a
peace in which progress could be achieved and in which the
human rights and fundamental freedoms were respected,
without distinction as to race, sex, language or religion. The
United Nations was a forum of debate and negotiation and
an instrument for the liberation of peoples still under
colonial rule and oppression for the econornic advancement
of the less developed countries and for the promotion of
human rights. In such undertakings the United Nations
would always be supported by Chad.

18. The United Nations had always been concerned with
the apartheid problem and had continually tried to con
vince the South African authorities of the injustice and· the
criminal nature or that policy. The South African Govern-

191

ment, however, had rejected the resolutions of the GeneFal
Assembly and the Security Council and was continUing to
impose its tyrannical rule. As the President of the United
Republic of Tanzania had stated at the 1867th plenary
meeting of the General Assemb'ly, on 15 October 1970, a
man could change his religion or his political conviction but
not his colour or his race, and if he suffered on a.ccount of
one or the other he must either become dehumanized or
fight. Such WaS the present situation in southern Africa.

19 . His delegation wished to express its solidarity with
those who were struggling for their freedom; it promised
them all possible moral and material assistance in their
effort to bring about the triumph of freedom and justice,
and consequently, of peace in Africa and in tIle world. But
that was not enough; joint action must be undertaken to
eliminate racial discrimination and apartheid. In an era
when men had reached the moon, such action was not
impossible. Education and communications media were
particularly important in bringing about understanding
among men, peoples and nations, and his delegation
therefore welcomed the activities which the United Nations
and its specialized agencies, particularly UNESCO, intended
to take during the International Year for Action to Combat
Racism and Racial Discrimination. However, it SllOUld not
be forgotten that apartheid violated the spirit of the
Charter of the United Nations and was a crime against
humanity; if that practice could not be eliminated by
peaceful means, the United Nations would have to use all
the coercive measures provided for in the Charter to
persuade South Africa, Portugal and the illegal regime of
lan Smith to mend their ways.

20. It was surely to be regretted that, at a time when all
possible efforts were being made to ensure the strict
implementation of the resolutions adopted by the General
Assembly and the Security Council against racial discrimi
nation, colonialism and apartheid, some Powers were more
or less openly supporting the military regimes in Pretoria,
Lisbon and Salisbury. His delegation urged the economic
and military Powers and the trading partners and allies of
those regimes to comply with the resolutions in question
and to refrain from doing anything that might encourage
them to persist in their defiance. In that connexion, the
decision taken by the French authorities on the question of
trade with South Africa was very heartening. It was to be
hoped that the other Powers would follow that good
example of solidarity with the victims of injustice.

21. Mr. MOELLER (Denmark) said that, shortly after the
opening of the parliamentary session in Denmark two
weeks before, a bill prohibiting and penaUzing the practice
in Denmark of any kind of discrimination on account of
race, colour, origin or creed had been introduced. The bill
also penalized the dissemination of war propaganda and was
therefore in keeping with the draft resolution on youth
adopted by the Committee at its 1758th meeting.

22. It migh t seem strange that those measures were being
adopted at so late a date, but the fact was that there were
already prOVisions relating to such grave offences as the
persecution of, and incitement of hatred against, groups of
people and that such problems had never existed to any
appreciable extent in the Scandinavian countries.



I .~~-- ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••
r',rf?'·!

29. She wished to draw attention to the anomalous status
of women under the policy of apartheid and recalled the
observation made by the Indian representative at the
1767tl1 meeting that black women and children were
regarded as "superfluous appendages" in the so-called
South African "society". In that connexion, she stressed
that men and women had equal rights and drew attention
to General Assembly resolution 2587 (XXIV) which re
ferred to the implementation .of the Declaration on the
Elimination of Discrimination against Women.

31. Her delegation commended the decisive role played by
the United Nations in liberating colonial peoples but felt
that it was necessary to bear in mind that some peoples
were still under colonial domination and that not all had
attained freedom. The colonialist countries persisted in
taking a position which was contrary to the principles of
the Charter and a patent offence against human rights.
Colombia condemned colonialism and would support any
step designed to achieve the universal realization of the
right of peoples to self-determination and the early granting
of independence to colonial countries and peoples.

30. Her delegation condemned all forms of racial discrimi
nation, segregation and apartheid and hoped that vigorous
action would be taken to ensure the observance of the
Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the effective
application of the principles laid down in the Charter. She
would support any initiative designed once and for all to
abolish all restrictions which impaired or obstmcted the full
enjoyment of human rights and fundamental freedoms. She
believed that the International Year for Action to Combat
Racism and Racial Discrimination was a real step towards
the elimination of that scourge and hoped that vigorous
action would be taken to combat apartheid and racial
segregation in southern Africa. Colombia had signed the
International Convention on the Elimination of All Fonns
of Racial Discrimination, and her Government was con
vinced that the maintenance of international peace, har
mony and security rested on the twin pillars of the
principle of the equality and dignity of all human beings
and respect for human rights.

32. Mr. NIKOBAMYE (Burundi) recalled that the items
under consideration had been the subject of frequent and
prolonged debate in the Third Committee, the Security
Council and even the General Assembly. TIlC problems of
the elimination of racial discrimination and the universal
realization of the right of peoples to self-determination had
been included in the agenda of various United Nations
bodies for ten years; moreover, the Organization had for
many years been condemning South Africa's policy of
apartheid and its colonialist designs as well as Portugal's
colonial war against the African peoples. Nevertheless, the
results of the numerous resolutions adopted by the United
Nations against South Africa and Portugal had been
completel y nil; far from disappearing, the scourges of
racism and colonialism had had a resurgence with the

24. FollOWing the adoption of the International Conven
tion on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimina
tion, a comm.ittee had been set up in Denmark to consider
what amendments to existing laws would have to be made
so that the Convention could be ratified without reserva
tions. The committee had held detailed conversations with
its counterparts in the other Nordic countries and had
finally succeeded in overcoming the difficulties involved in
meeting the requirements of the Convention while at the
same time respecting the right of free speech. Under the
amended provisions of Danish penal law, offences would
include not only persecution and incitement to hatred but
also threats and derogatOlY speech or action. Obviously,
since racial problems were of minor importance in the
Nordic countries, it was a simple matter to counteract
individual manifestations of intolerance and racial discrimi
nation. It was only when the administration, the authorities
and large groups in society violated human rights that the
problem assumed large dimensions and universal im
portance.

192 General Assembly- Twenty-fifth Session _. Third Committee---------
23. He shared the view that the underlyil1g problems were Nations and an ohstacle to the social, economic, cultural
not so much racial differences as differences in philosophy, and scientific progress of peoples as well as a threat to
ethical values, language, upbringing and customs. Although international peace and security. The United Nations had
Denmark was, by tradition, a tolerant country, prejudice spared no effort in combating those evils but had not
and intolerance were not entirely unknown to it, and its succeeded in putting an end to that offence to human
law-makers were not blind to the fact that prejudice was a dignity.
natural human weakness which must be prevented from
developing into fanaticism and cruelty. In that endeavour,
as in many others, the Nordic countries co-operated closely
with one another, and the provisions which were about to
be adopted in Denmark were the same as those prepared in
Norway and Sweden.

28. Mrs. GONZALEZ DE CUADROS (Colombia) said
that, notwithstanding the principles laid down in the
United Nations Charter, the humon rights and fundamental
freed oms of millions of people were today being violated in
many parts of the world; that was an affront to the United

25. Referring to the report of the Committee on the
Elimination of Racial Discrimination (A/8027), he con
gflltu]ated the members of the Committee and pointed out
that the latter had before it no small task; it therefore
deserved praise for the prompt and efficient way in which it
had tackled the various problems with which it was
concerned.

26. With regard to the question dealt with in the note by
the Secretary-General (A(7998), he recalled that Denmark
had abstained in t.he vote on resolution 2588 B (XXIV),
among other reasons because it had felt that the question
came within the purview of other committees of the
General Assembly. He wished to repeat what his delegation
had said on that occasion in explaining its vote, namely that
Denmark still considered it desirable that agenda items
should be discllssed in the committees to which they
naturally belonged.

27. He regretted that it would not be practicable to
enlarge the scope of the United Nations Trust Fund for
South Africa at the present time ancl considered the
suggestions made by the Secretary-General and the Com
mittee of Trustees (see A/RlI7, para. 12) to be realistic amI
appropriate.



1770th meeting - 26 October 1970 193

I!"

37. Mr. PZERI (Algeria), speaking in exercise of his right
of reply, expressed surprise at the mention Wllich had been
made during the preceding meeting of the political, social
and economic situation in his country at a time when the
Committee was dealing with the theme of racial discrimina
tion. Such allusions were symptomatic of the stubborn
blindness of those who refused to admit that, just as in
southern Africa and Zimbab.,ve, there was also racial
discrimination in Palestine as a result of the colonialist
subjugation of whole populations. As had been clearly
stated, Algeria was on the side of all the peoples who were
fighting to assert their dignity and their inalienable right to
freedom. It was ready not only to do everything in its
power to help the Palestinian people, with whom it shared
the Arab tradition and culture, but also to fulfIl the
responsibility it had assumed to help the peoples of
southern Africa and the Portuguese Territories, which had
the same aspirations.

36. His delegation would support any draft resolution
aimed at strengthening the sanctions adopted against
Pretoria, Lisbon and Salisbury, for it felt that the elimina
tion of the inhuman regimes to which the peoples of South
Africa, Namibia, Mozambique, Angola and GUinea (Dissau)
were subjected called for Draconian measures, inclUding the
expulsion of South Africa and Portugal from the United
Nations, if the situation was to be remedied and peace,
justice and freedom were to be restored in Africa.

38. Miss EDMONDS (United States of America), speaking
in exercise of her right of reply, said it was regrettable that
the debate on items 53 and 60 had not been kept at a level
at which practical and reasonable solutions to the grave
problems of racism could be proposed, and she rejected the
fallacious accusations made by the representative of Syria
against her country. The affirmation that the United States
was guilty by association of encouraging and preserving the
regime of apartheid was devoid of all logic and strained the
imagination. Fortunately, that opinion was not shared by
the great majority of Afrit;an States, with which the United
States maintained the most friendly relations. Far from
favouring apartheid, the United States supported every
reasonable and practical measure designed to put an end to
that regime, complied with the Security Council resolutions
prohibiting the sale of arms to South Africa, and observed
the embargo imposed on Southern Rhodesia. As was
natural, there were differences of opinion among Govern
ments, as there almost always were among friends, as to the
best ways of eliminating racial discrimination, but there was

installation in Southern Rhodesia of a brutal minority discrimination and colonialism, two crimes against hu.
regime which had, to the distress of the indigenous manity that always went hand in hand. The immediate
population, grown strong with the support of Pretoria and elimination of all vestiges of those evils was an inescapable
Lisbon. obligation, for in southern Africa the colonialist regimes

and apartheid were becoming stronger and were winning
new defenders with the passage of time, so that their
destruction at a later time might involve a conflagration
comparable to the two World Wars. The wave of na
tionalism which had swept over the greater part of the
African continent in the past twenty-five years would not
be stopped by the white bastions of southern Africa, for
the African peoples were determined to sunder once and
for all the chains of colonial oppression and apartheid even
at the risk of provoking a catastrophe.

33. However, the celebration during the current year of
the tenth anniversary of the Declaration on the Granting of
Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples and the
observance during the coming year of the International
Year for Action to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimina
tion would provide an opportunity to evaluate the achieve
ments of the United Nations in those areas, an evaluation
which he thought would, on balance, be positive. Since the
adoption of the Declaration, and thanks to the firm will of
the United Nations, the majority of the countries which
had been under the colonial yoke at that time had gained
their independence and were occupying their rightful places
in the concert .of nations. The most recent example of that
welcome trend was Fiji, to whose people he extended his
warmest congratulations on their newJy won national
sovereignty .

35. The contempt for the United Nations shown by
Pretoria and Lisbon and their repeuted violations of human
rights made it imperative that Member States should
resolutely carry out their obligation to apply the provisions
of the Charter relating to such grave situations and should
expel South Africa and Portugal from the United Nations,
since they did not lTleet the conditions required for
membership in the Organization. The time had come for all
Member States which were devoted to peace and freedom
to take tne most vigorous action to combat both racial

34. Nevertheless, southern Africa was the scene not only
of a colonial situation which was an anachronism in the
mid·twentieth century but also of racial discrimination in
its most odious form: apartheid. The international com
munity could no longer continue to tolerate the arrogance
with which South Africa and Portugal, making a mockery
of the United Nations Charter and world opinion, defended
aberrant notions and obscurantist ideas and committed
brutal crimes against the peoples of Namibia, Mozambique,
Angola and Guinea (Bissau). In addition, certain Powers, as
had been clearly revealed by a member of the Government
of Ian Smith, were continuing to connive directly or
indirectly with Salisbury, Pretoria and Lisbon and were
giving active support and financial and military aid to those
regimes, in disregard of the resolutions of the United
Nations. The declarations with which those Powers which
were enemies of peace and justice sought to abuse the trust
of the African countries while at the same time acting in
complicity with the enemies of the peoples of southern
Africa could no longer fool anyone, for it was all too well
known that in the furtherance of their economic interests
they were ready even to trample underfoot the principles
enshrined in the United Nations Charter. In that connexion,
an appeal should be addressed to all Member States to
apply immediately all the relevant resolutions of the
Security Council, to cease underwriting the policy of South
Africa, Portugal and Southern Rhodesia, and to refrain
from supplying those countries with anns and other means
of repressing the struggle of the indigenous peoples to assert
their legitimate right to self-determination, freedom and
justice.



General Assembly - Twenty-fifth Session - Third Committee194

no doubt whatever as to the goal, Le. the eradication of all
manifestations of racism. The United States would support
any resolution of a peaceful character which was designed
to achieve that end, but it could not disregard the fact that
there was no provision in the Charter or in the basic
documents of the United Nations prescribing the use of
force by Member States against each other in order to bring
about the implementation of the decisions of the Organiza
tion. Any suggestion to that effect would constitute a
regrettable denial of the principles of peace of the United
Nations and would be particularly unfortunate at a time
when the Organization was celebrating its twenty-fifth
anniversary. Moreover, United States policy in that respect
did flot differ from that of sixty other States Members of
the United Nations which maintained relations with the
Government of South Africa in the hope of thus being able
to exert pressure on it to abandon the policy of apartheid.

39. As she intended to refer in detail at a later stage to the
items under discussion, she would not reply to the Syrian
representative's allusion to the existence of ghettos in the ..,
United States. However, without wishing to provoke a
polemical discussion, she pointed out that in many States ..)
which claimed a perfect record on that score there were
sectors of the population whose rights were denied and
which were the victims of discrimination.

40. Finally, she rejected as an unwarranted misrepresenta
tion of the facts the insinuation that the mutual security
arrangements entered into by the United States with other
countries contained hidden clauses pennitting the arms
supplied under those arrangements to be used for the
purpose of repressing indigenous populations.

The meeting rose at 5.10 p.m.



102 General Assembly - Twenty-fifth Session - Special Political Committee

the back door; it is contradictory to support self-deter
mination in southern Africa and at the same time to stifle
it by arming the supremacist regime to the hilt; it is idle
to pratend concern for the welfare of Africans while the
oppressive racist regime is being given aid and comfort; it
is incompatible to love and hate the minority racist
regime at the same time. Very soon, a choice must be
made between support for freedom and slavery; between
short·term economic lucre and long-term political and
economic accommodation with Africa; between the
retrogressive forces of apartheid and the progressive
forces of racial harmony. It is evident that no country can
be friendly to both these diametrically opposed ele
ments."

10. Mr. SOLOMON (Ethiopia) welcomed the Special
Committee's comprehensive report. Though all efforts by
the United Nations to eradicate the obnoxious policies of
apartheid had thus far proved fruitless, the Organization
had succeeded in exposing those evil practices. In numerous
resolutions, it had requested the disengagement of States
maintaining diplomatic, consular, political, military and
economic realtions with South Africa. His delegation
believed that the consistent implementation of the relevant
resolutions would have provided an adequate framework
for international action aimed at bringing the apostles of
apartheid to their knees. Unfortunately, no progress had
been made because a number of States with vested interests
in South Africa had not implemented those resolutions;
owing to the dishonest ingenuity of South Africa's trading
partners, Pretoria was growing increasingly defiant. The 15
million restless victims. of apartheid were growing angry and
bitter against their oppressors, who were tightening their
chains in order to maintain their supplies of cheap labour.
The policy of apartheid was the very antithesis of peace,
justice and progress.

11. The Lusaka Manifesto l had symbolized the good faith
of the African peoples in seeking, if possible, a peaceful
solution to the problem. In paragraph 8, it had stated that:

"Our stand towards southern Africa thus involves a
rejection of racialism, not a reversal of the existing racial
domination. We believe that all the peoples who have
made their homes in the countries of southern Africa are
Africans, regardless of the colour of their skins; and we
would oppose a racialist majority government which
adopted a philosophy of deliberate and permanent
discrimination ... ; we are demanding an opportunity for
all the people of these States, working together as equal
individual citizens, to work out for themselves the
institutions and the system of government under which
they will, by general consent, live together and work
together to build a harmonious society."

Yet, because it had been addressed to a sick and morally
bankrupt society, obsessed by the obsolete myth of white
supremacy, the Lusaka Manifesto had been repeatedly
rejected.

12. His delegation did not advocate force as an instrument
of national policy. Since however, all peaceful means
seemed to have failed, force, the only language which the
die-hard racists in South Africa understood, would have to
be used. If the alternatives were either to use force or to

abandon the cause of freedom and justice, then force must
be resorted to as the lesser of two evils. His country
therefore pledged itself to assist the liberation movements
in their legitimate struggle.

13. The Emperor of Ethiopia, in his address before the
General Assembly on 23 October 1970 (l882nd plenary
meeting), during its commemorative session, had said:

"If the United Nations is to survive as an institution
worthy of the respect of peoples throughout the world, it
must redouble its efforts to free the colonial peoples from
subjugation. I strongly believe that this commemorative
session cannot do less than rekindle the flame of liberty
in these oppressed peoples by adopting a declaration of
war against their oppressors. I believe the United Nations
should do even more! I believe that it should extend
material assistance to them just as the Organization of
African Unity does, until the colonial and racial systems
in South Africa are brought to an end. We must not fear
that such action would break the United Nations, for the
entente in southern Africa is an alliance of minorities. On
the contrary, as the overwhelming majority of the family
of nations represented here is against this unholy alliance,
the States concerned cannot in any way affect our
Organization."

14. Mr. oenu (Nigeria) expressed his delegation's appre
ciation to the great world statesmen, the Secretary-General,
the heads of delegations and other distinguished representa
tives who, by their unequivocal denunciation of the Fascist
policies of South Africa, had reaffirmed the commitment of
the United Nations to the total and early elimination of
racial discrimination in that country. He welcomed the
Special Committee's report which would go down in the
history of the United Nations as one of the most important
political documents of the present time.

15. The murderous acts of the apartheid regime against
the peaceful African population had been clearly revealed
in the report and in the statements of many delegations.
The shameful collusion of certain Western Powers
including permanent members of the Security Council-in
the diplomatic, economic, commercial and military fields
had been exposed to the full glare of international opinion.

16. He paid a warm tribute to the Soviet Union which, as
a permanent member of the Security Council, had adhered
faithfully to the letter and spirit of'the Charter and of the
various resolutions on apartheid adopted by the Security
Council and the General Assembly. To appreciate that
country's highly commendable and courageous attitude, it
was only necessary to imagine what the situation would
have been if it had joined the other three permanent
members of the Security Council in contravening the
Charter and flouting the Organization. The stand of the
Soviet Union on apartheid was a major contribution to
peace and stability in Africa and the world.

17. There was a mass of incontrovertible evidence that the
Western Powers bore a grave responsibility for the frustra
tion of the efforts of the United Nations to achieve equality
and justice for non-white South Africans. Those same
Powers, by their "unholy alliance" with South Africa, had
enabled that regime to consolidate its position in Namibia



709th meeting - 28 October 1970

.'

i
i.'.i.
m
r:'
r

and had brought aid and comfort to the racist regime in
Zimbabwe and the Fascist dictatorship in Lisbon.

18. The criminal Gestapo methods of oppression, torture
and murder employed by the South African regime were
directed not only against the 15 million Africans in South
Africa but against all persons of African descent throughout
the world. Apartheid was a crime against humanity and
posed a serious threat to international peace and security.
His delegation was therefore very disappointed that the
United States of America had shown no appreciable
concern, had given no leadership and had made no concrete
efforts to join other countries in working for the early
elimination of apartheid. The declared domestic policy of
the United States on racial matters in recent years had
shown a conscious determination to secUre equality and
justice for all her citizens. His delegation commended that
policy and hoped that the enlightened attitude of the
United States would be reflected in greater understanding
of the dangers inherent in the "philosophy" of apartheid.

19. Turning to South Africa's policy of subversion of
independent African States, he said that the Democratic
Republic of the Congo and Nigeria-both of which had
been in the vanguard of the struggle against apartheid and
Portuguese colonialism-had been the targets of subversion
by South Africa and Portugal during the past ten years. He
waS proud that the evil machinations of the South African
racists to weaken the forces of freedom, independence,
sovereignty and unity had been decisively checked in both
countries. Nevertheless, the high priests of racial bigotry
had not yet recovered from the reverses suffered, and might
try their hands elsewhere on the continent. He wished to
assure them that they would fail again.

20. His delegation whole-heartedly supported the Special
Committee's recommendation to break diplomatic, con
sular, economic and commercial relations with South
Africa. As to the failure of certain States to observe fully
the arms embargo against South Africa, he said that some
of that country's trading partners had argued that their
economic and commercial interests in the Republic were
vital to their economy, or had drawn a sharp distinction
between politics and economic relations. He expressed
surprise that those States refused to see the immense
advantages that would result from a democratically stable
South Africa. Their economic and commercial wealth in the
Republic was being erected over a hugb explosive device
which would go off in the fulness of time. Co-operation
with a democratically elected government of Azania would
therefore be in their own interest.

21. His country was unequivocally opposed to the supply
to South Africa of any arms whatsoever or to the assistance
rendered to that regime to manufacture arms inside the
Republic. Such weapons would serve only to enhance the
ability of the regime to pursue and intensify its racial
oppression. The suggestion that an imaginary threat to the
Cape TOtitc by the USSR Navy was the main reason for a
resumption of arms supplies had been thoroughly dis
credited. In any event, Africa could not be defended
without the co-operation of Africans. Consequently, the
only reason for the arms deals was that the business was
very lucrative indeed. For South Africa's trading partners
and military collaborators, the end seemed to justify the

103

means. Those States were clearly accomplices in the crimes
against humanity; the money which they earned was
derived from the blood of the innocent victims of Sharpe
ville and the other valiant opponents of apartheid.

22. In time, the wicked regime in South Africa would
crumble and apartheid would surely be destroyed. He
pledged the total support of the Nigerian Government and
people in the different struggle ahead.

23. Mr. S. TRAORE (Mali) said that if, by some miracle,
the millions of men who had fallen on the battlefields of
the Second World War were to return to life, they would be
stricken with grief upon finding that the racism against
which they had fought had taken more pernicious and
brutal forms, opposect only in the form of resolutions,
which seemed to be intended more for the archives than for
action. The celebration of the twenty-fifth anniversary of
the United Nations brought to mind the spirit in which the
authors of the Charter, having just emerged from the
horrors of six years of war with their dreams of world peace
and harmony among men, have striven to make the
principles of tolerance and peaceful relations a reality, in
the realization that a world without respect for funda
mental human rights was a precarious one indeed and that
those rights were essential to human existence. But now,
twenty-five years after the signing of the Charter, one saw
only the bitter reality of entire peoples deprived of the1r
freedom and their rights, driven from their lands and
brutally humiliated in the name of the new political
philosophy of apartheid.

24. Both within and outside the United Nations, voices
had been raised against the practice of apartheid, Pope Paul
VI had spoken out against racism as a threat to peace, and a
group of experts meeting under the auspices of UNESCO in
Paris in September 1967 had COli demned racism as an
obstacle to development, a divisive influence among nations
and a force which aggravated international conflict and
threatened world peace. The report of the Special Com
mittee provided ample confirmation of those tmtlls.

25. The policy of apartheid deprived millions of non
whites of the exercise of their physical, intellectual and
moral faculties, as was only natural when, in the name of
so·called separate development, a minority which had
sufficiently demonstrated its own intellectual and moral
backwardness took upon itself the right to administer a
people whom it felt it could rob of anything, even hope.
The report of the Special Committee bristled with examples
of legislative and administrative measures clearly designed
to perpetrate a crime against an entire people. Thus,
non-white South Africans, who made up 68 per cent of the
population, were confined on 13 per cent of the land, and
very barren land at that. The school s and so-called training
centres were actually intended merely to supply willing
labour for the economic appetites of the white minority.
The basic civic rights granted to all by the United Nations
Charter and by the constitutions of all Member States were
denied to non-white South Africans. The benefits of science
and technology served only the whites in South Africa.
Indeed, all of non-white South Afllca was an enormous
concentration camp where even the family unit was under
attack and wives were separated from their husbands and
children. The racist minority in South Africa did not belong



29. Thus provided with military assistance, South Africa
received economic advantages denied to other developing
nations which devoted most of their income to the
development of their citizens. That much was evident from
a reading of the relevant passages (A/AC.lIS/L.276)3 of
the study by Mr. Sean Gervasi which showed that the largt:
and ever-increasing volume of trade between South Africa
and the developed countries of the "free world" was
actually in no way crucial to economic activity in any of
the latter countries, while economic assistance from the
great Powers for the rest of Africa was increasingly difficult
to obtain and extremely costly. In view of the foregoing, it
Was no surprise that resolutions on apartheid went unimple
mented and that South African mercenaries could with
impunity fly to the assistance of Southern Rhodesia and
Portugal. Apartheid had been declared a crime on the
conscience of mankind; it was for the United Nations to see
that that conscience was respected.

30. Miss DINCER (Turkey) said that it was extremely
painful, on the occasion of the twenty-fifth anniversary of
the United Nations and the tenth anniversary of the
Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial
Countries and Peoples, to have to refer to the question of
apartheid in the knowledge that the numerous resolutions
of the Security Councij and the General Assembly on that
policy remained unimplemented. In the context of the
policies of colonialism, racial discrimination and racial
prejudice which continued to be practised by the South
African regime in the political, social, economic and
cultural fields, the United Nations had made a greilt
contribution to the protection of hasic rights and freedoms
through the adoption of resolutions concerning apartheid.
which had not only been recognized hy a large majority of
Member States as (~onstituting a threat to international
peace and security, but had alsu been declareJ a potential
threat to international peace and security by ihe Security

,._---

104 General Assembly Twr.nty-fifth Session - Special Political Committee

to the civilized world, for it was distressingly reminiscent of· support of certain States which, no doubt, w~re t1?e~se~ves
those responsible for the ghettos, ovens and concentration not untouched by the vims of racism and ractal dlscrnruna-
camps of thirty years before; moreover, it did not even tion. The sum of $2,800 million which had been allocated
attempt to hide that resemblance. Indeed, it had challenged for armaments, rather than for the development of the
the world with its policies. Mankind must take up that people of South Africa as a whole, would have left the

South African economy in a sorry state if it had not beenchal1enge.
supported by other external resources. At the 1872nd
plenary meeting of the General Assembly on 19 October
1970 President Kaunda of Zambia had made clear the use
to which those armaments would be put. For the leaders in
Pretoria, South Africa's external defence meant above all
the annihilation of the opponents of its apartheid policy.
The memory of Sharpeville should leave no doubt as to that
fact, unless the armaments supplied to the South African
regime had the magical quality of being harmless to
non-whites and effective only against imaginary enemies
from imaginary communist countries. The security of
southern Africa could not be guaranteed by the Pretoria
regime alone; on the contrary, his delegation considered
that the supply of arms to South Africa was essentially
aimed at keeping that region, and consequently all of
Africa, in a state of permanent insecurity. The allies of
South Africa must come to understand that basic fact.

26. It was no longer necessary to state that the practice of
apartheid was a crime against humanity. The real question
wa.s whether, by accepting it, the international community
was not making itself an accomplice to that crime. Yet the
United Nations continued to adopt resolutions and recom
mendations which, if genuinely implemented, would ob
viate the need for recourse to violence in order to eliminate
that blot on the conscience of mankind. Unfortunately,
experience had shown that some of those whose peoples
had suffered the most from racial intolerance offered
economic ::md military protection to the practice of
apartheid. Their arguments were varied but uniformly
unconvincing. Reference had been made, for example, to
the provisions of Article 2, paragraph 7, of the Charter in
support of the argument that apartheid fell within the
domestic jurisdiction of the South Afrjcan Government.
But Article 2 was not a unique provision to be interpreted
outside the general context of the Charter itself, which
rested upon the basic principles of the maintenance of
international peace and security and the defence of the
inalienable rights of men without distinction as to race,
colour or religion. The Charter was completely binding
upon its signatories, and any practice which was contrary to
it must be opposed. Indeed, what was the United Nations
doing each day if not dealing with questions which
normally fell under the sovereignty ot' its Members?
Development, for instance, was first and foremost an
intcmal matter. The people of Korea had the sovereign
right to live under the regime of their choosing. The forms
of government and administration in China were the
inlernal problem of China alone. And yet the United
Nations carried out military operations in Korea and
claimed the right to dictate China's international behaviour.
It could not &ay that racism and intolerance, which had
caused mankind untold suffering, were not within its
competence.

27. It had also been said that solutions to the problem of
apartheid must be sought only through non-violent means.
At?;ain, the Chalter must be viewed as a whole. While
Chapter VI pmvided for the pacific scttlement of disputes,
Chapter VII lefI 110 doubt as to the forceful measures which
must be taken for the maintenance of international peace
and security. The offeasive attitude of the leaders in
Pretoria placed them outside the protection of Chapter VI.
In the view of his delegation, the case of the South African
regime fcll under Article 6 of the Charter, which provided
for the expulsion of any State that had persistently violated
the principles or the Charter. His delegation also held out
the hope that those Member States which had cOllsidered
that international peace was threatened in Korca in 1950
would tak~ action to apply the pertinem proVisions of
Chapter VII to the South African Hlgirm:. Action must be
t,d~en before it was too late, and the report of the
Committee made it cleat that time was short.

28. The fascists and racists of Pretoria were consolidating
themselves militarily and economic,illy, thanks to the

. 3 Mim~ogr~phed; .the full teAt of the study, entitled Indll;.trial.
{ZatlOll, Jore!gn capital alld forced labour in South AJi'/cu, has been
Issued as United Nations publication, Sales No.: F.70Il.K.8.

k _



35. Her country's disapproval of the policy of apartheid,
which Tan counter- to the principles of the Universal
Declaration of Human Rights and the United Nations
Charter, had been expressed in various ways. Turkey had
voiced its COndllmnl,ltion of that policy on every possible
occasion, had voted for all the resolutions submitted on the
matter, had never entertained any diplomatic, consular or
economic relations with South Africa and did not intend to
do so in the future. Her country was an active member of
the United Nations Council for Namibia, and she therefore
wished to take note of one positive development which
might help to resolve the question of Namibia, The Security
Council had decided (see Council resolution 284 (I 970)),
on the initiative of the delegation of Finland, to seek the
advisory opinion of the International Court of Justice on
the legal consequences for Member States of South Africa's
continued refusal to turn over the administration of
Namibia to the Council for Namibia. Her delegation
expected that the Court's opinion would provide a sound
legal basis for future action by the United Nations and the
Council.

31. On its twenty-fifth anniversary, the United Nations
was still confronted with the basic question of how to
implement effectively the numerous resolutions which had
been adopted on the matter. The policy of her Government
on the question was well known, and the Foreign Minister
of Turkey, speaking before the General Assembly on 24
September 1970 (1849th plenary meeting), had reiterated
the Turkish Government's condemnation of apartheid.
Indeed, that position reflected her country's historical
experience, for all races and creeds had lived together in
mutual trllst and respect for many centuries under the
Ottoman commonwealth.

709th meeting - 28 October 1970 105

Council. Once again, on 24 October 1970, the General South Africa taken at the recent conference of non-aligned
Assembly had condemned racism and racial discrimination countries (~ee A/Spe/L.I8l).
in the Declaration on the Occasion of the Twenty-fifth
Anniversary of the United Nations (resolution
2627 (XXV)). Yet it was difficult to say that any signifi
cant progress had been achieved in rectifying the anachro
nistic situation which prevailed in South Africa. In fact, the
Government of South Africa was actually becoming increas
ingly strict in its application of the policy of apartheid, in
open defiance of all the resolutions of the United Nations
and the warnings of the international community.

r
32. Her delegation had studied carefully the report of the
Special Committee, which deserved commendation for its
clear presentation and its perceptive analysis of the situa
tion in South Africa. Her delegation was in full agrcement
with the conclusions and most of the recommendations
contained in it. Among the pieces of repressive legislation
described in I hc report, one could cite the Terrorism Act,
the Suppression nf Communism Act and the so-called
Urban Areas Act, which, while allowing African men to
remain in white urban areas, in 1I10st cases forced their
wives and children to retreat to the "homelands", poor and
underdeveloped areas set aside by the South African
Governmen t fo r such purposes. The practical effect of that
legislation was to split up the family, obliging wives to live
in cOlllmunities made up only of women, children and old
people.

33. According to the report, whites, who made up 19 per
cent of the total population, held 69 per cent of the
national purchasing power, while the non-white majority,
which accounted for 68 per cent of the population, had
only about 23 per cent of the purchasing power. As the
Foreign Minister of South Africa had stated before the
General Assembly on I October 1970 (1857th plenary
meeting), an accclerated programme of industrialization
was no doubt under way in South Africa; however,
non-white South Africans were apparently drawing few
benefits from I hat ind ustrialization.

34. Shc noted with regret that, despite all the resolutions
of the General Assembly and the Security Council, the
policy of apart!teid pcrsi'sted and had even been extended
beyond t he borders of that country to Namibia. In that
cO;lnexion. she wished to state that her delegation fully
supported resolution 2624 (XXV), adopted by the General
Assembly on 13 October 1970, calling for full implementa
tion of' the provisions of Security Council resolution 282
(I <nO). She wished to point out that her delegation bad
supported the sixth preambular paragraph of that resolu·
tion, regarding the decision on the arms embargo against

36, Turkey had ceased trading with Southern Rhodesia
and fully implemented the mandat ory economic sanctions
imposed by the Security Council. In that connexion, she
recalled that the Foreign Minister of Turkey-in his address
before the General Assembly to which she had just
referred-had suggested that the Security Council should
find new ways and means of ensuring the implementation
of the sanctions.

37. Her delegation felt compelled to draw certain conclu
sions regarding prospects for future action with respect to
apartheid. The international community had demonstrated
exceptional unity in condemning tl1at policy, and that
condemnation had gradually been transformed into the
adoption of concrete measures, such as mandatory eco
nomic sanctions and the anns embargo. An international
campaign was under way througl1 the dissemination of
information on apartheid. [f that campaign were systemati
cally maintained with the moral and material assistance of
all Member States, in accordance wi th the principles of the
United Nations Charter, it could eventually prove effective
in achieving the isolation of South Africa from the
international scene. Finally, it was the responsibility of the
Member States to support the activities of organizations
like the ILO and UNESCO and to provide them with the
information they required in thei r activities against apart
heid.

38. In conclusion, her delegation welcomed the proclama
tion of the year 1971 as the International Year for Action
to Combat Racism and Racial Discrimination. She ex
pressed the hope that the year 1971 would provide an
excellent opportunity to renew and intensify international
efforts to eliminate racial discrimination in all its manifesta
tions, including the policy of apartheid.

39. Mr.OMRAN (Syria) said that the United Nations had
obviously been unsuccessful in dealing with questions of
racism and apartheid during its twenty-five year history. It
was clear from the documents before t]le Committee that



106

all the resolutions of the United Nations on the question
had been ignored and that the efforts of international
organizations had been ineffectnaL There could be no
doubt that the elimination of the philosophy of apartheid
constituted tile greateRt mora] challenge of the day. The
need for continued United Nations efforts against apartheid
had never been more urgent.

40. It was stated in paragrapll 104 of the report of the
Special Committee (A/8022) that, by continuing to apply
its repressive legislation designed to suppress demands for
social, economic and political changes accepted elsewhere
in the world as normal, the South African Government had
shown its determination to close all avenues of peaceful
change in tIle country. The increasing number of United
Nations resolutions adopted on the subject had been met
by an increase in the severity with which measures
enforcing racial segregation in South Africa were applied.
As the Secretary-General had explained, South Africa was
able to continue to challenge the United Nations and to
insult the sacred principles of human righl.s because a
number of States which maintained political and economic
relations with South Africa, particularly its major trading
partners, did not share with the vast majority of Member
States the belief that the resolutions adopted on apartheid
provided an adequate frameworlc for effective international
action. It was not unusual that the imperialist Powers
supported the racist regime in South Africa. In the global
strategy of world capitalism and imperialism, South Africa
should be viewed as a large land base of Western imperial
ism. Its role was to deter the emergence of Africa as a
colossal progressive force which could, if left alone, muster
enough economic, financial and military power to liquidate
the vestiges of colonialism and imperialism. Thus, South
Africa, Southern Rhodesia, Portugal, Israel and South
Viet-Nam continued to serve as the bastions of permanent
aggression against the peoples of Africa, the Middle East
and South East Asia_

41. Indeed, South Africa was not without allies, for many
influential Member States entertained the warmest of
diplomatic, economic, social, military and other relations
with that racist regime. Paragraph 113 of the report of the
Special Committee showed that the imperialist Powers
which were the main trading PfHtners of South Africa,
namely the United Kingdom, the United States of America,
the Federal Republic of Gennany and others, were increas
ing their volume of trade with South Africa. As indicated in
paragraph 114, that trade was not of vital importance to
the economies of South Africa's trading partners, but Was
crucial to the functioning of the South African economy.

42. The phenomenal growth of South Africa's military
power, despite tile arms embargo institu ted by the Secui"ity
Council, was emphasized in document A/AC.115/L.279.4

Its military budget had risen from about $60 million to
about $380 million ir'l the past ten years, thus enabling
South Africa to import a large amount of military
equipment. Moreover, the number of licences acquired by
South Aflica had proved sufficient for it to engage in the
manufacture of some 140 types of ammunition and bombs.
His delegation, like others, rejected the distinction which
some attempted to draw between arms for internal repres-

4 Mimeographed.

sion or the enforcement of the policies of apartheid and
arms for external defence, a distinction which existed only
in the minds of armaments suppliers. The wars being waged
by imperialist regimes in Africa, the Middle East and South
East Asia proved that such anns were used to crush
liberation movements. South Africa's threats against neigh
bouring countries were based upon the actions of a sister
racist regime in the Middle East.

43. The existence of co-operation between Israel and
South Africa in the economic, political and military fields
had been definitely established. Non-stop ilights by El AI,
the Israeli airline, between Tel Aviv and Johannesburg, as
well as many charter flights, carried tourists, businessmen
and military missions over the occupied Sinai peninsula.
Moreover, South Africa had been granting Israel economic
assistance, as was indicated in a statement in the Jewish
Telegraphic Agency Daily News Bulletin of 17 July 1970
that South Africa had granted Israel a loan of $15 million.
South Africa had also benefited economically from the
closure of the Suez Canal in July 1967 as a result of Israeli
aggression, as was made clear in paragraph 175 of annex 11
(A/8022/Add.l) to the report of the Special Committee.
Those facts were ample proof of the existence of an unholy
alliance between those two sister racist regimes.

44. His delegation believed that the time had come to
move from the stage of passing resolutions to the stage of
executing them. It supported the suggestions made by the
representative of Mexico (693rd and 701st meetings) in the
belief that the time had come for the expulsion of South
Africa from the United Nations and all the specialized
agencies. His delegation's support for less firm measures was
prompted more by a spirit of solidarity than by conviction.
His delegation agreed with the statement by the represen
tative of the Sudan (699th meeting) that the only legal and
effective way to eliminate apartheid and racism in South
Africa and elsewhere was through the armed struggle of the
liberation movements. He also supported the proposal made
by the representative of Somalia before the General
Assembly (1882nd plenary meeting) to the effect that the
credentials of the South African delegation, which repre
sented nothing but a racist regime based on oppressive
minority rule, should be examined. It considered that the
representatives of national liberation movements should be
entitled to serve on United Nations bodies rather than the
representatives of apartheid, colonialism and military occu
pation.

45. Mr. CHAFFARI (Iran) said that no reports recently
published showed any signs that the viciousness of the
apartheid policy had diminished. Although the question of
apartheid had been on the agenda of the General Assembly
since the inception of the Organization and every effort had
been made by the United Nations organs to uphold in
South Africa the fundamental human and political rights
set forth in the Charter and in the Universal Declaration of
Human Rights, that continuing affront to human dignity
had still not been eliminated.

46. The South African Government had not only rejected
all the resolutions adopted by the United Nations but had
also devised new measures and enacted new laws to
consolidate its policies of racial discrimination and segrega
tion and ignore all basic human rights. In ord~r to maintain



709th meeting - 28 October 1970 107

!r.

r

...

1""

white supremacy in the area, South Africa had also
introduced its odious policy into neighbouring countries. It
had refused to comply with the Security Council decision
(resolution 269 (1969)) demanding its withdrawal from
Namibia, had given military support to the illegal regime in
Southern Rhodesia and had provided it with economic
assistance to offset the effects of the Security Council's
decision. His delegation therefore fully agreed with the
Special Committee's suggestion in paragraph 130 of its
report (A/8022) that the question of apartheid should be
considered in the context of southern Africa as a whole. It
was however gratifying to note that the Security Council
had finally resumed its consideration of the question.

47. Not content with denying the majority of the popula
tion their fundamental and inalienable rights, the apartheid
system had become active in breaking up family relations in
the country. An article in The New York Times of 20
October 1970 had described the queues of people seeking
advice in private welfare centres because they had been
ordered to leave their homes and families. Since black
labour was necessary to white industry, African men were
allowed to remain in white areas as contract labour without
family, but black women and children were being forced to
go to the poor undeveloped areas set aside by the
Government as black "homelands". The Advice Offices had
said that the only solution to the problem was divorce. The
article concluded, however, that despite the tragic parade of
broken families, the 1970 census had demonstrated the
Government's failure to establish racially separate societies.
Some eight million blacks were still registered in white
areas-over half the black population, three million more
than when the Government had begun separate develop·
ment in 1951 and twice as many as the white population.

48. His country, by culture and tradition, had always
opposed any sort of discrimination or segregation and had
done everything possible to bring about their elimination.
Article I of the Teheran ProclamationS issued at the end of
the International Conference on Human Rights held in
1968 drew attE'ntion to the obligations of the international
community to promote and encourage respect for human
rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinc
tions of any kind, and article 7 had been entirely devoted
to the evils of apartheid and desire for its eradication.
Within its limited means, Iran had contributed to the
United Nations Trust Fund for South Africa, because it
sincerely believed in that worthy cause.

49. Mr. SINUMVAYAVUGWA (Bnrundi) drew attention
to the general conclusion of the Special Committee's report
(A/8022, para. 143), which attributed the lack of progress
in the fight against apartheid to two main factors: the
intransigence of the Government of South Africa and the
unco-operative at titude of States which continued to
maintain any kind of relations with that country. By
ignoring the many United Nations decisions both on its
policy of apartheid and on its presence in Namibia, the
South African Government had clearly demonstrated its
refusal to co-operate with the Organization. Burundi did
not share the opinion which Western Powers were trying to
impose on the General Assembly that a peaceful transfor-

5 See Final Act of the International Conference on Human Rights
(United Nations publication, Sales No.: E.68.XIV.2), p. 3.

mation of the South African situation could be brought
about by a change of heart among white South Africans. As
the President of the Republic had said, Burundi felt that
the dangerous situation in southern Africa could be
changed only by pressure from world public opinion and
solidarity with the freedom fighters. The Lusaka Manifesto,
adopted by the Assembly of Heads of State and Govern·
ment of OAU in 1969, had condemned racism and assured
the freedom.fighter8 of the support of Heads of State and
Government of the independent African States, who would
never forget their responsibility fo r the total liberation of
the continent. That solemn undertaking to fight to the
death to free that young, dynamic continent with vast
natural resources, which WflS only at the beginning of its
glorious history, and to guarantee the security and equality
of its inhabitants had unfOltunately not been understood
by the States most concerned in the matter and had been
rejected by the Pretoria authorities.

50. His delegation considered it high time for the United
Nations to move out of its welter of resolutions towards
decisive action to safeguard peace and restore legality and
justice in that region. The whole world should help the
oppressed peoples of South Africa to regain their dignity
and right to exist. His delegation considered that South
Africa, because of its defiance of the fundamental prin
ciples of the United Natiom, was no longer worthy of being
a member of that OrganizatIon.

51. Mr. BAHOLLI (Albania) said that, 31though through
out the twen ty-five yeaTs existence of the United Nations,
there had been countless debates on apartheid and count·
less resolutions had been adopted condemning it, no
effective measures had been taken to eliminate that savage
form of racial oppression from southern Africa.

52. His delegation strongly condemlll~d the inhuman prac
tices of the racist Government of South Africa and the
attitude of the imperialistic Gountries which showed their
indifference to the tragic situation by continuing to support
that Government. It had repeatedly been irrefutably proved
that in South Africa millions of men were exploited,
persecuted, tortured and massacred merely because they
were black. It was horrifying to note that in the twentieth
century, people in South Africa were engaged in scientific
research to discover the most effective methods of combin·
ing moral and physical torture, poverty and lack of
education and hygiene, in order that millions of the
indigenous inhabitants of that country should have to
choose between living in slavery or being killed by arms
supplled by the imperialistic Powers in Europe and North
America .

53. His delegation was convinced, however, that apartheid
would be eliminated by the very people who were suffering
from it. It had not become established in South Africa by
chance but as a direct consequence of the colonialism of
the great imperialist Powers, which were directly or
indirectly doing their utmost to perpetuate that barbarous
type of colonialism. The common interests of South Africa,
the United Kingdom, the Federal Republic of Germany and
other imperialistic countries had joined in an inhuman
alliance against the vast majority of the inhabitants of
southern Africa. The Government of the United States of
America, controlled by monopolies, practised racial discri·



108 General Assembly - Twenty-fifth Session - Special Political Committee

The meeting rose at .5.40 p.m.

58. With regard to the Cabora Bassa dam some delegations
had tried to turn that magnificant realization into a
diabolical symbol of so-called white supremacy in the
Portuguese provinces in southern Africa. At another time
and in another context, it would have been hailed as a
source of development and wealth for the inhabitants of
the Territory. Unfortunately, some Member States ap
peared unable to appreciate the task being undertaken in
the Portuguese Territories, both in Burope and in Africa,
because politics did not allow for objective observation of
reality. Portugal had, however, not the slightest intention of
halting the economic, social and political development of
Mozambique, Angola and Portuguese Guinea, which it
considered its vital mission.

61. The President of the South-West African Peoples'
Organization had stated in the Fourth Committee (1887th
meeting) that there was no doubt that co-operation
between the Israeli and Pretoria Governments was increas
ing. South African Jewish Zionists were encouraged to go
to Israel to fight, the leaders of Israel's armed forces were
helping the South Africans, and the Fascist organizations in
South Africa were raising funds for Israel. The implic:itions
were obvious and no comment was necessary. For the
benefit of the Israeli representative, he quoted paragraph 10
of General Assembly resolution 2547 B (XXIV) which
callcd upon Governments to terminate all types of relations
with the South African Government. Reference to Israel's
relations with South Africa was therefore a very important
part of the discussion on apartheid.

59. Mr. EILAN (Israel), speaking in exercise of his right of
reply, said that a few days earlier (706th meeting) he had
clearly expressed his delegation's view of the Arab coun
tries' endeavours to introduce considerations on the Middle
East into a discussion on apartheid. He did not think that
the introduction of such extraneous matters would serve
the cause of those fighting apartheid. As the remarks made
by the representatives of Jordan and Syria had introduced
no new elements, he merely wished to draw attention to his
statement made on that occasion in exercise of his right of
reply.

60. Mr. OMRAN (Syria), speaking in exercise of his right
of reply, said that his delegation had quoted Israel as an
example of one of the Powers which was helping South
Africa in defiance of the United Nations resolutions. He
wished to remind the Committee of further facts and to
quote from Israeli sources concerning co-operation between
the two racist regimes. On 20 January 1970 the Jewish
Telegraphic Agency Daily News Bulletin had reported from
London that the South African Government had begun to
organize the export to Israel of tanks similar to the new
United Kingdom "Chieftan" tank which Israel had been
trying to buy from that country.

54. An explosive situation existed in South Africa, and
Albania was certain of the victory of that country's
martyred people, who had understood that violence must
be met with violence. The gradual development of the
political consciousness of the masses and their efforts to
organize armed resistance were promising signs of a better
future, A people fighting for its liberation could conquer a
much stronger enemy. Victory would call for sacrifices, but
all sacrifices were bearable in a fight for freedom and
human dignity.

mination even in its own country and was the natural ally and would continue to do so even when white racism was
of the South African racists. It had been proved that the confronted with other racisms and segregations which could
United States always sought the friendship of oppressors not be considered more acceptable than the one 'at present
and exploiters to the detriment of the interests and rights being so violently criticized.
of subject people. The NOlth American monopolies, sup
ported by their Government, made profits of $100 million
per year from the blood and toil of the non-white
population. The United States of America claimed that the
arms supplied to South African racists formed part of past
contracts that had to be respected, yet it was willing to
break agrements and contracts in many other cases. The
United Kingdom, which carried on an extensive and very
profitable trade with South Africa, could no longer hide
behind empty slogans and had openly expressed its inten
tion to supply arms to the racist regime. Otller countries
which in any way supported the Government of that
country also bore responsibility for the situation. The
Soviet "social-imperialists", who had agreed with the
United States to divide up the world into spheres of
influence, were thus undermining the national liberation
movements and helping to prolong the existence of regimes
such as that of Pretoria.

55. The Albanian Government had again officially in
formed the United Nations Secretariat that it had never had
any relations with the racist Government in South Africa
and would never contemplate such relations. Its people and
Government unreservedly supported the just revolutionary
fight of the oppressed masses in South Africa and would
support any proposals which truly served the cause of the
South African peoples fighting to free themselves from the
racist colonial yoke.

56. Mr. SHARMA (India), speaking in exercise of his right
of reply, assured the representative of Lesotho that the
Indian delegation understood the difficult situation faced
by that country in view of South Africa's racist policy and
repressive measures against freedom fighters. His own
statemen t at the 707th meeting had only referred to the
subjects discussed by the Special Committee and should not
be interpreted as a reflection on the Govemment of
Lesotho.

57. Mr. I-lOMEM DE MELO (Portugal), speaking in exer·
cise of his right of reply, said that several delegations had
referred in their statements to his country as if apartheid
had any connexion with the Portuguese policy in Africa.
Some delegations might have an adverse or unjust opinion
of his country's policy, but it was obvious that that had
nothing to do with racial segregation. It was well known
that the Portuguese had always opposed racial segregation


